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6618 Sitio Del Rio Boulevard

Building C-101 'l
Austin, TX 78730 '_E
Telephone:  512.372.8100

Facsimile: ~ 512.372.8140 C V 10 35 2 8

Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL E. DAVIS, aka TONY DAVIS, CASE NO.
Plaintiff, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Vs. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

ELECTRONIC ARTS, INC.,

Defendant.

Plaintiff, by and through his attorneys, based on his individual experiences, the
investigation of counsel, and upon information and belief alleges as follows:
L INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action lawsuit brought by Michael E. Davis, aka Tony Davis, on
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behalf of himself and on behalf of all other similarly situated retired National Football League
(“NFL”) football players against Electronic Arts, Inc. (“EA”) arising out of the unlawful use of
retired NFL players’ likenesses in video games created, marketed and sold by EA.
Specifically, EA’s unauthorized production and sale of products including the likeness of
Plaintiff Tony Davis violates his statutory and common law rights of publicity under California
law. Furthermore, EA’s practice of appropriating the likenesses of retired NFL players without
prior authorization and permission is unlawful and/or wrongful has caused it to be unjustly
enriched.

2. EA has purposefully chosen to include the unauthorized likenesses of retired
NFL players in EA’s popular “Madden NFL” video game franchise. Rather than obtain
authorization to use the likenesses of retired NFL players in its Madden NFL video game
franchise and properly compensate this group of individuals for use of their likenesses, EA
without authorization used their likenesses in “historic teams” that consumers could play and
manipulate when they purchased versions of EA’s Madden NFL video games.

3. EA has earned substantial revenue by creating, marketing, and selling video
games featuring the likenesses of retired NFL players. In just one fiscal year (2008), Electronic
Arts posted net revenues, calculated under GAAP, of $3.67 billion. EA has traded on the
popularity of historic NFL teams and the likenesses of the players who comprised the rosters of
those teams to enhance the revenue and popularity of EA’s Madden NFL video game franchise

4. EA’s commercial exploitation of retired NFL players is both blatant and prolific,
as the 2009 edition of the Madden NFL video game contained over 140 “historic teams”
containing likenesses of thousands of retired NFL players. EA was fully aware that its use of
the retired players’ likenesses was without authorization and that a license was needed.

5. Defendant’s conduct has violated and continues to violate Plaintiff’s right of
publicity and the right of publicity of all similarly situated class members. This is a proposed
class action on behalf of retired NFL players whose likenesses have been used without their
permission or consent in versions of EA’s Madden NFL video game franchise that were sold

from July 29, 2008 through the present, to increase revenues and profits for EA and in violation
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of applicable laws. Compensation is sought against EA for the unauthorized use of the
likenesses of retired NFL football players.
I1. PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Tony Davis, an individual, is a resident of Colorado and is a retired
NFL player. Mr. Davis played six seasons in the National Football league as a running back
for the Cincinnati Bengals (1976-1978) and Tampa Bay Buccaneers (1979-1981). EA has used
and uses Mr. Davis’ likeness for its own commercial benefit and profit without Mr. Davis’
authorization or permission.

7. Defendant EA, a Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business
located in Redwood City, California, is an entertainment software company that produces the
Madden video game franchise, along with a host of other video games. It is self-described as
the “world’s leading interactive entertainment software company.”

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1332(a) and (d) because the amount in controversy for the Class exceeds $5,000,000, and
Plaintiff and other putative Class members are citizens of a different state than the Defendant.

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendant
resides in this District, as well as has sufficient minimum contacts for the exercise of personal
jurisdiction in this District. Defendant has purposefully availed itself of the privilege of
conducting business activities within the State of California by employing workers within
California and selling its goods and services within the State and within the District.
Furthermore, on information and belief, the wrongful conduct occurred at EA’s principal place
of business located in Redwood City, California which is located within the this Judicial
District.

10.  Intradistrict Assignment: Assignment to the San Francisco or Oakland division
of this Court is appropriate because Defendant’s headquarters and principal place of business is
in Redwood City, California. Because this action arises in the County of San Mateo, pursuant

to Northern District of California, Local Rule 3-2(d), assignment to either the San Francisco
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Division or the Oakland Division is proper.
IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A. Background on EA and the Madden NFL Video Game Franchise

11.  EA is the number one publisher of video games in North America, with
revenues of approximately $4.2 billion for fiscal year 2009.

12.  EA produces the Madden NFL video game franchise. Video games within the
Madden franchise simulate football games between current and past NFL teams.

13.  EArreleases different versions of the Madden NFL video game franchise for
different video game platforms and in different languages.

14.  The Madden franchise is one of the top-selling video game franchises of all time
and has contributed significantly to EA’s annual revenue.

15. Upon information and belief, sales of all of the versions of the 2009 edition of
the Madden NFL video game accounted for approximately 10% of EA’s fiscal year 2009
revenue, totaling approximately $400 million.

16. EA releases a new edition of the Madden NFL video game every year. The
Madden NFL video games simulate football games in the most realistic manner possible, as EA
spends millions of dollars to ensure the realism of these NFL games, and advertises this realism
in the promotion of its products.

17.  Indeed, the very realism of the Madden NFL video game franchise is where the
franchise’s value lies, and EA’s promotion of the video game franchise trumpets this realism.
EA replicates the skill levels of NFL players through a ranking system and gives the likenesses
of NFL players in the Madden NFL games the very attributes that the NFL players have in real
life—including the same teams, positions, approximate height, approximate weight, and years
of experience, among other characteristics.

B. Background on EA’s Unauthorized Use of Retired Players’ Likenesses

18.  Inaddition to including the likenesses of then-active NFL players, through the

2009 version the Madden NFL game included “historic teams.”

19. EA misappropriated the likenesses of retired NFL players on these historic
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teams by describing in each player’s profile the player’s position, years in the NFL,
approximate height and weight, as well as each player’s relative skill level in different aspects
of the game, among other characteristics. These characteristics were consistently identical or
so close to the living player’s characteristics that the consumers of the game could readily
discern what player was being represented. Indeed, the value of the “historic teams” to
consumers of Madden NFL depended on the composition of the teams being true to actual
historical fact. For example, players of the Madden video game cannot enjoy pitting one
historical team against another (or one historical team against a current team) if the rosters of
those teams do not represent the actual characteristics of the teams that they know and love.

20. Player likenesses and publicity rights are extremely valuable, intangible
property. For example, it has been publicly reported that Electronic Arts paid the NFL Players
Union, through their licensing arm, nearly thirty-five million dollars each year for the use of
active players’ likenesses. However, EA attempted to avoid license fees for use of retired
players’ likenesses by placing on the “avatar” of each retired player a different uniform number
than that worn by the player when he was actually on that historic team. Similarly, in some
circumstances but not others, EA made certain trivial changes in a player’s characteristics, such
as changing a player’s weight by a few pounds. These changes reflect a calculated and
underhanded attempt to avoid having to pay any license or royalty—but nonetheless readily
invoke the likeness of the player in the mind of the consumer. In this way, EA has exploited
the retired players by using their valuable likenesses and publicity rights.

21.  Inthe case of named plaintiff Tony Davis, for example, in 1979 Mr. Davis
played for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers in the position of halfback (running back). He was 26
years old, 5’11 tall, weighed 215 pounds, was in his fourth NFL year, and wore number 27. In
the Madden 09 video game, he appears as a halfback for the 1979 Tampa Bay Buccaneers, is
26 years old, 5’117, weighs 215 pounds, has four years of “pro” experience, and wears number
37. In addition, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is a chart of the entire 1979 Tampa Bay
Buccaneers, with their player statistics for that year, compared to those players statistics as they

appear in the Madden *09 video game. As can be seen from a cursory review of this chart, it is
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easy to discern the identity of the retired NFL player class members in the game.

22. These are not unique examples. EA deliberately and systematically
misappropriated the retired players’ likenesses to increase the value of the Madden NFL video
game franchise at the expense of those players.

23.  The only significant detail that EA changes from the real-life retired NFL
players is their jersey number. Despite EA’s “scrambling” of the retired NFL players’
numbers, the games are designed so that consumers of the Madden NFL video game franchise
will have no difficulty identifying who the “historic” players are. Again, if the historic teams in
the Madden video game were not accurate representations of the retired players characteristics,
then the game playing experience would be quite unsatisfactory.

24.  The omission of player’s names and scrambling of the numbers has little
consequence because Electronic Arts includes a player customization feature that allows users
to edit the rosters of historical teams to include player’s real names and numbers.

25.  EA further encouraged users of the Madden video game to use the historic
rosters by, among other things, in some games allowing users to achieve certain milestones in
the game to unlock and use historic rosters for a reward for excelling at the game.

C. EA’s Awareness of Its Unauthorized Use

26.  Neither Plaintiff nor any other member of the class has ever authorized EA to
use his rights of publicity or likeness in the Madden NFL video game.

217. On information and belief, EA and representatives of the National Football
League Player’s Association (the “NFLPA”) entered into discussions regarding the use of
retired NFL players’ likenesses in the Madden NFL video game.

28.  The NFLPA made it clear to EA that it could not use the likenesses of retired
NFL players in the Madden NFL video game franchise.

29.  EA did not acquire the rights to use the likenesses of retired NFL players but,
instead, it misappropriated the likenesses of retired NFL players in EA’s Madden NFL video
game franchise by misappropriating elements and characteristics of retired NFL players.

30.  Notably, after this scheme came to light, EA discontinued its misappropriation
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of retired NFL players’ likenesses in the 2010 edition of the Madden NFL video game.
V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATION

31.  Plaintiff brings this class action on his own behalf and on behalf of a class of
persons similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

32.  The putative Class is defined to include approximately 6,000 retired NFL
players whose likenesses were included in the “historic teams™ in all versions and editions of
the Madden NFL video game sold between July 29, 2008 and the present, without permission
or authorization.

33. Excluded from the Class are EA, its directors, officers, and employees. Also
excluded from the Class are the limited number of players whose virtual players’ height is not
within two inches of the player’s roster height, and the virtual players’ weight is not within
10% of the players’ roster weight.

34. The Class meets the numerosity standard in Rule 23(a)(1) because it consists of
approximately 6,000 retired NFL players who are geographically dispersed throughout the
United States and perhaps elsewhere.

35.  Although the precise number of such persons is unknown, the exact size of the
Class is easily ascertainable, as each class member can be identified by using readily available
and widely published historic player information. For example, the names and addresses class
members can be obtained from the NFL Alumni Association, The NFL Players’ Association
(NFLPA), and the NFL's Player Database. The joinder of each of these approximately 6,000
players is impracticable.

36.  The disposition of Class members’ claims through this class action will provide
substantial benefits to both the parties and the Court.

37.  Members of the Class may be notified of the pendency of this action by
techniques and forms commonly used in class actions, such as by published notice, e-mail
notice, website notice, first class mail, or combinations thereof, or by other methods suitable to
this class and deemed necessary and/or appropriate by the Court.

38.  There are common questions of law and fact that predominate over any
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questions affecting only individual members and include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Whether EA utilized retired NFL players’ likenesses in its Madden NFL
video game franchise;

(b) Whether EA used retired NFL players’ likenesses for its advantage or
economic gain;

(©) Whether such use is unlawful;

(d) Whether EA’s conduct violates California Civil Code Section 3344;

(e) Whether EA’s conduct violates California’s common law right of publicity;

® Whether class members have been damaged by EA’s conduct and the
amount of such damages;

(g) Whether class members are entitled to punitive damages and whether costs
and attorneys’ fees are appropriate and the amount of such damages;

(h) Whether statutory damages are appropriate and the amount of such damages;
and,

1) Whether EA should disgorge their unlawful profits and the amount of such
profits.

39.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the Class’ claims, as they arise out of the same
course of conduct and the same legal theories as the rest of the Class, and Plaintiff challenges
the practices and course of conduct engaged in by EA with respect to the Class as a whole.

40.  Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class because his interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Class members that he seeks to represent, and, in fact, he is
similarly situated with the members of the Class. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent
and protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiff has retained counsel who are competent and
experienced in the prosecution of class action litigation.

41.  Resolution this action on a class-wide basis is superior to other available
methods. Although the aggregate damages which may be awarded to Plaintiff and the Class are
likely to be in the tens of millions dollars, the actual damages suffered by the individual

damages could be small in comparison. Thus, the expense and burden of individual litigation
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makes it economically infeasible and procedurally impracticable for each retired NFL player
member of the Class to seek legal action.

42.  Moreover, separate actions by individual class members would also create a risk
of inconsistent or varying judgments, which could establish incompatible standards of conduct
for EA and substantially impede or impair the ability of class members to pursue their claims.
Allowing this matter to proceed as a class action presents fewer management difficulties,
conserves the resources of the parties and the court system, and is the only method whereby
Plaintiff and the Class can efficiently seek redress and obtain a uniform adjudication of their
claims. Plaintiff does not anticipate difficulties with the management of this action.

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Deprivation of Rights of Publicity in Violation of California Civil
Code §3344)

43.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 40 as
though set forth fully herein.

44.  EA has knowingly and intentionally utilized and continues to utilize the
likenesses of Plaintiff and class members in its Madden NFL video game franchise without the
consent of Plaintiff and class members. This conduct has occurred in and emanated from
California, specifically EA’s headquarters in Redwood City, CA.

45. EA’s actions, as described herein, were committed maliciously, intentionally,
fraudulently and with a willful and conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s and class members’ rights,
making an award of punitive damages appropriate in order to punish and deter EA from
continuing to engage in the conduct alleged herein.

46.  Asaresult of EA’s misappropriation of their publicity rights, Plaintiff and class
members have been injured.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of Rights of Publicity under California Common Law)

47.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 44 as
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though set forth fully herein.

48.  EA has utilized and continues to utilize the likenesses of Plaintiff and class
members in numerous versions and editions of its Madden NFL video game franchise.

49. EA has intentionally utilized and continues to utilize Plaintiff’s and class
members’ likenesses with full and complete knowledge that its use of such likenesses was
unauthorized and without prior license or consent of Plaintiff and class members.

50.  EA has utilized and continues to utilize Plaintiff’s and class members’
likenesses for its own commercial advantage as a means of generating interest and profits for
its Madden NFL video game franchise. |

51. EA’s actions, as described herein, were committed maliciously, intentionally,
fraudulently and with a willful and conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s and class members’ rights,
making an award of punitive damages appropriate in order to punish and deter EA from
engaging in the conduct alleged herein.

52. Asaresult of EA’s misappropriation of their publicity rights Plaintiff and class
members have been injured.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Unjust Enrichment)

53. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 50 as
though set forth fully herein.

54. To the detriment of Plaintiff and class members, EA has been and continues to
be unjustly enriched as a result of the unlawful and/or wrongful conduct alleged herein. EA
has been unjustly benefited through the sale of various versions and editions of its Madden
NFL video game franchise that utilize the likenesses of Plaintiff and class members.

55.  Plaintiff’s and class members’ likenesses have considerable commercial value
based on their participation on legendary and immensely popular NFL teams from years past.

56.  EA has intentionally utilized and continues to utilize Plaintiff’s and class
members’ likenesses without their consent. EA has therefore benefitted from the use of

Plaintiff’s and class members’ likenesses while simultaneously denying Plaintiff and class
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members the compensation that they would expect to be paid for the use of their likenesses.
57.  Between Defendant EA and Plaintiff/class members, it would be unjust for EA
to retain the benefits attained by their wrongful actions. Accordingly, Plaintiff and class
members seek full restitution of EA’s enrichment, benefits and ill-gotten gains acquired as a

result of the unlawful and/or wrongful conduct alleged herein.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated prays for
judgment against Defendant EA as follows:

A. Certification of the action as a Class Action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, and appointment of Plaintiff as the Class Representative and his
counsel of record as Class Counsel;

B. That Plaintiff and each and every member of the class recover: damages
determined to have been sustained by each of them, including actual damages, statutory
damages, punitive damages, and such other relief as provided by the statutes cited herein;

C. Disgorgement of all profits attributable to the use of Class Members’ likenesses
earned by EA from the sale of all editions and versions of the Madden NFL video games
containing the likenesses of Plaintiff and class members between July 29, 2008 and the present
through an accounting performed by accountants of Plaintiff’s choice under terms and

conditions ordered by this Court at the expense of Defendant;

D. Prejudgment and post-judgment interest on such monetary relief;
E. The costs of bringing this suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees; and
F. All other relief to which Plaintiff and class members may be entitled at law or in
equity.
"
1"
1
11
"
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

DATED: July 29, 2010

89492

THOMAS WHITELAW & TYLER LLP

By: //im«/ .

BRIAN D. HENRI
JOSEPH E. THOMAS
MICHAEL 1. KATZ
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

12

COMPLAINT -




Case3:10-cv-03328-JL Documentl Filed07/29/10 Pagel3 of 15




Case3:10-cv-03328-JL Documentl Filed07/29/10 Pagel4 of 15

§e|se il g1 Spzisve <9119 . 861V uow|ss Aamaq
52192 ¢le 8101} .. &Zzisee Wb 919 ~15]06 1abizjeN eueq
124 14 KB 8101} - . opZjove B ER -~ 1%]|¢e Sima] aneQ
- Z2ieT L1 1al T ozeglose €99 , #1]z9 SJapues ausg
__zzlee 1 1a] — gszlose —Z8l.es ]9 uebo aneg
eliz KB 1d 0s2lose Z.9].£9 42{16 Japmou) Apuey
. g2lee il Id| 082|092  £81.£9 64|26 sima aibbey
— gzlsz ¥lv Y] 662]sse £9].£.9 £9]v6 uowjag Aoy 89
92|z - Gl9 37 ..08Z]0sC I ER 21116 Jejoy g
82182 9|9 31| 08ZJose - 89{.99 - 09{86 sjaqueyd Ajlep
- 12lse gls 1Y ~ pgzlose 59,79 .. 89z ugsny |j9ueq
- geloz B 1] egzZlosz 981,59  olsy uojue) jAeq
74 42 311 oY 5gelsse £9(.£9 498l spaqoy bain
~ ¥Zi6C £l o) - 662]10€ 991,99 £4]59 YeuueH sajieyn
- 6eZ|se D ol ozzjolz . _,,ﬁ_m.o - 0s|eL UOS|IM 9AS}S
gz a0 o1} = " ssz|sse 28,29 ~ 99]0§ ouie 961095
- 8zZlse N o1 082|052 __«b8l.¥9 8]2s uopoH Baio
82162 - glg 17 - e9esaz -~ 89l.6.9 _ G1|/9 SINeay aAeq
- 92]9T ~gls 3l peezioce w29].2.9 ~9alos YdInopeIqo Wir
- gglsz gle EN A ovzlove £91.£.9 88|z8 S9|I9) ajwwip
- 9219z GG UM 00z]00C £08].0.9 68l SUBMQ SO
ez L ¥mf - osi{osl —_0:98{.09 - #8loL S8UOf UOpIOS)
O pzive - gi¢ M oBLis6lL b3 SlLLG _ 181 Ja3ony Aueq
"~ GZlse GG UM 081{081 T .88].6.5 18]y suibe oees|
£z]ee L adf 002{002 91,29 o¢l6C suJag 31y
9z]9z i a4 - Gi2iS1e 1819 42| sineq Auo)
£2]€C Zlz g4 GezlseT w4 9].1.9 ; g€18C sineq Auuyop
 G2i52 ~ gl¢ aH| D T S . gZl1T sjepsbey ab10e9
G2Zlve ML aH - S83]561 £0:8(.0.9 (3 4[4 poomxo3 Auap
[Z4 124 gle aH $12]022 Z91.2.9 Zv|oz 1eg Axory
[24 44 ZlL g0| $61]002 ~ab8].1.9 viiz BUISNS %ONyD
82|82 zly g0 002|561 , 0:91.0.9 GL{LL arY MW
velve e g0 Siejvic 9|79 A0 swetjiim bnog
o |eey| aweo| ajiT jeay| aweo| uonisod 9| sweo ui or]| oweo| @y sweo| aweN Jokeld
utoBy| uiaby] ujoud| uioid feay wil jybiopn| resy utjurjybiay| fesu# wg
| sieej| siea) ybiam wbioH Aessor| Aasiar




Case3:10-cv-03328-JL Documentl Filed07/29/10 Pagel5 of 15

0€joc 8|6 dl 081]081 ~ 08].09 9iiclL pJeyoue|g woj
92/9z £le ] 012|502 991,99 8 anyBouoq,0 1SN
. 9Z{se blv SS| . sozjoLe #2:8].2.9 - gZlie uepIof SNY
1zl G ssf sozlsoz 08,09 - ggleze AsujoD e
6eglse gle Sdf - spZjsoz 7 ) ESEE umolg oupan
§2{ve K go] osiio6L Wb bGLLLS Opl6e 9093y Auueg
- ¥2lve 2l g0]  osilosl — WbhSLLLS 23 aiesa) Ajlig
0Z]02 plv ao]  efgjsoc £8].£9 24 uojbuiysep NN
2Z].2 8l9 aol 6811581 ; w3 SluL 1S S¥]0C SJYM suar
yZive ~€l¢ g10y 9€T{9eT _ W£9.29 9665 uosuyor |1999
K34 [X4 KA 4 g gg2{see 2929 Ss|6e6 umoig uosey
Szise ¥lv g1n 512|512 «£.9].£9 £5{56 ssauuog iy
__9zloz gls g1 _6zz|see ».9(.2.9 PSiLY POOA PIeYdIY
oJIn jedy| asweo| ajry jesy| aweo| uolisod aji| aweo uj 817 oweo 8jJ1N| swer)| aweN Jakeld
ujeby| uiaby| upoudi uioud feay ut| Jybiopn| jeey wurjybioH| leay# w
. saesp| sieap ybie wboy Aesuiop| Aasior




